WILLIAM SAGER,

Petitioner,

v.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

No. 22-0158 (Lower Case No. 20-C-35)

DR. JOSEPH DUVERT, TYGART VALLEY TOTAL CARE CLINIC, and GRAFTON CITY HOSPITAL, INC., a West Virginia corporation,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Joseph H. Spano Jr. Pritt & Spano, PLLC 714 ¹/₂ Lee Street, E., Suite 204 Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 346-7748 WV State Bar ID No: 11373

I.	TABL	E OF A	UTHORITIES
II.	ASSIC	INMEN	TS OF ERROR

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	В.	Summ	edings in the Court Below
IV.	STAT	EMENT	۲ REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT13
V. ARGUMENT			
	А.	Introdu	action13
	I.	Standa	rd of Review – Summary Judgment14
	II.	Standard of Review – Motion to Dismiss15	
	D.	D. The Circuit Court of Taylor County erred in granting responden Motion for Summary Judgment by finding that Petitioner filed His Complaint after the expiration of the statute of limitations	
		a.	The Circuit Court erred in granting respondents' Motion17 For Summary Judgment by finding that the discovery Rule did not apply
		b.	Plaintiff Complied with the mandates and requirements30 of W.Va. Code §55-7B-6
		c.	Actions Taken by the Respondents that Extended and33 Tolled the Statute of Limitations
VI.	CONC	LUSIO	N

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 \mathbf{x}

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York, 148 W.Va. 160,
Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009)16
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)16
Blankenship v. Ethicon, Inc., 221 W. Va. 700, 656 S.E.2d 451 (2007
Cart v. Marcum, 188 W.Va. 241, 245, 423 S.E.2d 644, 648 (1992)18, 26
Conrad v. ARA Szabo, 198 W.Va. 362, 369-70, 480 S.E.2d 801, 808-09 (1996)15
Davis v. Mound View Health Care, Inc., 220 W.Va. 28, 32, 640 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2006)34, 35
Dunn v. Rockwell, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009)
Elmore v. Triad Hospitals, Inc., 220 W.Va. 154, 640 S.E.2d 217 (2006)
Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W.Va. 743, 671 s.E.2d 758 (2008)16
Gaither v. City Hospital, Inc., 199 W.Va. 706,10, 17, 18, 19, 24, 25, 26, 28 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997)
Harris v. Jones, 209 W.Va. 557, 562, 550 S.E.2d 93, 98 (2001)
Hickman v. Grover, 178 W.Va. 249, 358 S.E.2d 810 (1987)10, 18
Hill v. Clarke, 161 W.Va. at 262, 241 S.E.2d at 57410, 24, 26, 29
Hinchman v. Gillette, 217 W.Va. 278, 618 S.E.2d 387
Jackson v. Putnam County Bd. of Educ., 221 W.Va. 170, 653 S.E.2d 632 (2007)14
Mueller v. American Elec. Power Energy Servs., Inc., 214 W.Va. 390,

John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 161 W.Va. 603, 606,
Martin v. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc., 2013 WL 2157698
Painter . Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)
Poling v. Belington Bank, Inc., 207 W.Va. 145, 529 S.E.2d 856 (1999)16
Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 s.E.2d 32914
Sprouse v. Clay Communication, Inc., 158 W.Va. 427, 211 s.E.2d 674 (1975)16
State ex rel. Smith v. Kermit Lumber & Pressure Treating Co., 200 W.Va. 221,15 227, 488 S.E.2d 901, 907 (1997)
State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770,15 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995)
State ex rel. PrimeCare Med. of W. Va., Inc. v. Faircloth, 835 S.E.2d 579,31, 32, 34, 35 584 n.4 (W. Va. 2019).
Szpynda v. Pyles, 433 Pa.Super.1, 639 A.2d 1181, 1184-85 (1994)28
United States Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Eades, 150 W.Va. 238, 144 S.E.2d 703 (1965)16
Bradley v. Williams, 195 W.Va. 180, 465 S.E.2d 180, 184 (1995)
STATUTES
W.Va.Code, 55-7B-4(a)17
West Virginia Code §55-7B-6, et seq
W. Va.Code § 55–7B–2(e) (2006) (Supp.2007)

OTHER

i 2

1

Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis, & Louis J. Palmer, Jr., *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* § 12(b)(6)[3], at 354 (3d ed. 2008)

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The lower Court erred by dismissing Petitioners' claims on the Defendants' Rule
 12(b) motion to dismiss/motions for summary judgment by determining that
 Petitioner filed his Complaint after the applicable statute of limitations date.
- II. The lower Court erred by dismissing Petitioner's claims by finding that the discovery rule did not apply to extend the statute of limitations date.
- III. The lower Court erred by dismissing Petitioner's claims by finding that the Petitioner failed to comply with the provisions of the Medical Professional Liability Act.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT BELOW

.

Petitioner filed this medical malpractice case in the Circuit Court of Taylor County, alleging that Respondent physician and medical facilities breached the applicable standard of care in the treatment of the Plaintiff by the over prescribing of controlled substances and the filling of controlled substances prescription, which were known to have addictive qualities to the Petitioner, the failure to properly treat Plaintiff's medical conditions, the failure to properly diagnose Plaintiff's medical conditions, and the failure to refer Plaintiff to other physicians or specialists who could properly treat Plaintiff in an appropriate manner. (0003-0013). Thereafter, Respondents filed their Motions to Dismiss/Motions for Summary Judgment to which the Appellant responded and to which the Respondents replies. (0039-0413). A hearing was held and the Court granted Petitioner's request to supplement the record, although the Court indicated it would rule in Respondents' favor. After entry of the Dismissal Order, Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, to which the Respondents responded and to which the Petitioner replied. Petitioner now appeals the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondents. Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal on February 28, 2022.

B. SUMMARY OF CLAIMS

.

On December 2003, Petitioner was involved in a motor vehicle accident in which he sustained injuries and sought medical treatment from the Respondents. Instead of providing legitimate medical care to address the Petitioner's injuries and pain, the Respondents, for approximately fourteen years, merely prescribed increasing amounts of controlled substances.

The Respondents held themselves out to be health care providers who were providing legitimate care to the Petitioner. Petitioner relied upon the Respondents to provide appropriate medical care for the injuries sustained in the motor vehicle accident and the attendant pain. Respondents misrepresented and concealed the fact that their medical treatment of the Petitioner was the actual cause of his pain (hyperalgesia); Respondents misrepresented and concealed the fact that Mr. Sager did not have any physical injuries that required the prescribing of controlled substances; Respondents misrepresented and concealed the fact that their overprescribing had addicted him to the medications they had prescribed. Due to the excessive overprescribing of pain medications by the Respondents, Petitioner became dependent upon and addicted to the medications, lived with daily pain caused by the excessive prescribing of opioids otherwise known as hyperalgesia, suffered from depression, and anxiety, and lived in a druginduced stupor for 14 years (0218).

.

Petitioner filed his Complaint when the Respondents' negligence and malpractice, that Respondents engaged in conduct that breached their duty of care, was discovered and was filed within the applicable statute of limitations period. Further, prior to the filing of the Complaint, Petitioner complied with the provisions of the MPLA, timely served the Certificates of Merit upon the Respondents and filed his Complaint within the applicable statute of limitations period.

The lower Court's finding that the statute of limitations began to run when the Petitioner entered into a drug rehabilitation program in May, 2018, is a mistaken understanding of the disease of addiction, the rehabilitation process, and fails to consider the applicability of the discovery rule and its elements. Petitioner has repeatedly argued that in August 2018, he discovered that Respondents breached their duty and failed to exercise proper care in the treatment they provided in August 2018 at such time as he learned that the controlled substances prescribed by the Respondents for approximately fourteen years were not medically necessary and were not written for a legitimate medical purpose. Petitioner learned that the controlled substances were not written for a legitimate medical purpose when the pain he had been experiencing for 14 years ceased, which occurred in August 2018. The cessation of ingesting controlled substances does not immediately return a person's mind or body to its "normal" status.

Neither the prescribing of controlled substances nor addiction to the controlled substances is necessarily malpractice or negligence. The Respondents herein are licensed healthcare providers who treated Mr. Sager for approximately 14 years for the pain associated

7

with injuries and/or medical conditions, which, according to their records included scoliosis, chronic hip pain, and low back pain (0089), (0190-0291), (0312-0335). However, none of those medical conditions were causing Petitioner to experience pain. The Respondents' plan of care for Mr. Sager was the prescribing of ever-increasing amounts of controlled substances, despite the lack of testing, or the use of other medical treatments.

Mr. Sager, as a lay person, relied upon the medical expertise of the Respondents to provide the appropriate treatment to address his medical needs, specifically the pain he was experiencing. During the 14 years of treatment provided by the Respondents, Mr. Sager was in constant pain on a daily basis. Petitioner's injuries and pain was the reason he initially sought medical treatment from the Respondents. That pain continued for 14 years. Respondents attributed that pain to "actual" medical conditions as reflected upon the medical records. Respondents' plan of care for pain Mr. Sager was experiencing was the prescribing of opioids and other controlled substances.

According to Centers for Disease Control and Prevention,

"Prescription opioids are often used to treat chronic and acute pain and, when used appropriately, can be an important component of treatment."

Mr. Sager relied upon the medical expertise of the Respondents and trusted the Respondents to provide appropriate treatment for his pain. Importantly and unknown to Mr. Sager, the pain he had been experiencing for 14 years was actually caused by the opioids prescribed the Respondents. This medical condition is otherwise known as hyperalgesia, often medically diagnosed as opioid-induced hyperalgesia. "Opioid-induced hyperalgesia (OIH) is defined as a state of nociceptive sensitization caused by exposure to opioids. The condition is characterized by a paradoxical response whereby a patient receiving opioids for the treatment of pain could actually become more sensitive to certain painful stimuli. The type of pain experienced might be the same as the underlying pain or might be different from the original and underlying pain. OIH appears to be a distinct, definable, and characteristic phenomenon that could explain loss of opioid efficacy in some patients." <u>A comprehensive review of opioid-induced hyperalgesia</u>, Pain Physician. 2011 Mar-Apr;14(2):145-61.

Contrary to the information contained on Mr. Sager's medical records, Respondents did not perform medical examinations of Mr. Sager. During Mr. Sager and Dr. Duvert's conversations regarding current events and politics, Dr. Duvert would inquire whether Mr. Sager was still experiencing pain, which he was still experiencing. Thereafter, Dr. Duvert prescribed opioids and other controlled substances which continued the rebound effect of hyperalgesia.

Petitioner alleged in his Complaint that the Respondents "were in a joint venture and/or civil conspiracy to promote the distribution of highly addictive and potentially lethal drugs into the state of West Virginia, including but not limited to Taylor County for profit and by turning a blind eye." In further of their civil conspiracy, the actions, misrepresentations, and concealment of facts of the Respondents were instrumental in preventing Mr. Sager from learning of the negligence of the Respondents and tolls the statute of limitations.

In Syl.Pt.4, Gaither v. City Hospital, Inc., 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997), the West Virginia Supreme Court stated that:

"under the discovery rule the statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence, should know (1) that the plaintiff has been injured, (2) the identity of the entity who owed the plaintiff a duty to act with due care, and who may have engaged in conduct that breached that duty, and (3) that the conduct of that entity has a causal relation to the injury." While addiction is an "undesirable result" after medical treatment, Petitioner did not know until August 2018 that the controlled substances prescribed by these Defendants were not medically necessary, that prescribing of controlled substances for 14 years was contrary to medical protocol, nor did the Plaintiff know that the actions of the Defendants was malpractice until he was no longer experiencing pain.

As the West Virginia Supreme Court opined in Gaither v. City Hospital, :487

S.E.2d 901 (1997):

"In our holding today, we find on the one hand that knowledge sufficient to trigger the limitation period requires something more than a mere apprehension that something may be wrong. See Hill v. Clarke, 161 W.Va. at 262, 241 S.E.2d at 574 ("[P]ain, suffering and manifestation of the harmful effects of medical malpractice do not, by themselves, commence running of the statute of limitation"). Even if a patient is aware that an undesirable result has been reached after medical treatment, a claim will not be barred by the statute of limitations so long as it is reasonable for the patient not to recognize that the condition might be related to the treatment. On the other hand, we do not go so far as to require recognition by the plaintiff of *negligent* conduct. In medical malpractice actions, such a standard is usually beyond the comprehension of a lay person and actually assumes a conclusion that must properly await a legal determination by a jury. Such a requirement would also result in a situation "where the statute of limitations would almost never accrue until after the suit was filed." Hickman, 178 W.Va. at 253, 358 S.E.2d at 814. We simply hold that once a patient is aware, or should reasonably have become aware, that medical treatment by a particular party has caused a personal injury, the statute begins".

C. FACTUAL STATEMENT OF CASE

On December 2003, Plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident in which he

sustained injuries and sought treatment from these Respondents. At the time Petitioner sought

treatment, he was experiencing pain due to the injuries sustained the accident. Instead of

providing legitimate medical care to treat the physical injuries that were causing Mr. Sager pain,

the Respondents, for approximately fourteen years, merely prescribed controlled substances without conducting any medical examination of Petitioner. In February 2018, due to the Respondents' negligent prescribing of prescriptions month after month for more than a decade, Petitioner who had become dependent upon the medications written by the Respondents, Petitioner sought medical detoxification for the medical withdrawal from the medications at United Hospital Center Rehabilitation located in Bridgeport, West Virginia. At that same time, Mr. Sager received concurrent treatment at the John D. Good Center and Cranberry Medical Clinic. Plaintiff completed the rehabilitation program and treatment in August 2018. Treatment at the John D. Good Center and Cranberry Medical Clinic consisted of treatment for opioid abuse with other opioid-induced disorder, withdrawal, insomnia, acute stress reaction, including the prescribing of medications to address a recently diagnosed bipolar disorder. (0090-0091)

Throughout the 14 years of being treated by these Defendants, Plaintiff had experienced tremendous pain on a daily basis, which these Respondents attributed to the injuries sustained in the 2003 accident. During those 14 years of treatment, month-after-month, Respondents fabricated medical records in an attempt to legitimize their overprescribing of controlled substances. As outlined in Petitioner's medical records (0087-0089), (0190-0261), (0312-0335). Respondents advised Petitioner that it was medically necessary to prescribe controlled substances month-after-month for more than ten years in ever increasing dosages of his pain medication. This increase in the dosage of the pain medication was done without any medical examinations or testing to determine the extent of his injuries, to determine the true cause of Plaintiff's pain, or whether the injuries Petitioner sustained in the 2003 motor vehicle accident still existed.

11

The Respondents held themselves out to be health care providers who were providing legitimate care to the Petitioner. Respondents misrepresented and concealed the fact that their medical treatment of the Petitioner was contrary to medical protocol, that the prescribing of the controlled substances was not medically necessary nor was the prescribing for a legitimate medical purpose. Respondents misrepresented and concealed the fact that their medical treatment was the actual cause of his pain and that they had purposely addicted him to the medications they had prescribed. Due to the excessive overprescribing of pain medications by these Respondents, Plaintiff became dependent upon the medications and lived in a drug-induced stupor for 14 years. After Petitioner completed the drug treatment program in August 2018, he discovered the negligence and malpractice of these Respondents, that the controlled substances prescribed by the Respondents were not medically necessary, and the fact that these Respondents had actually caused the injuries he had been suffering from, including the intense pain he experienced month-after-month for approximately 14 years. Petitioner has not experienced any pain since August 2018.

Petitioner's expert, Dr. Ranieri, opined that (0054-0058), to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Respondents breached the applicable standard of care within the scope of the practice of pain management by allowing the prescribed medications to be used on a chronic basis, despite the patient not having any significant relief in pain. (0234) Dr. Ranieri also opined that Dr. Duvert breached the applicable standard of care by treating Mr. Sager with a combination of multiple opioids and benzodiazepines which facilitated the development of addictive tendencies.

Dr. Ranieri opined that Dr. Duvert, "failed to select appropriate drug therapy for chronic use, failed to adhere to treatment algorithms, failed to instruct about potential life-threatening effects, failed to properly monitor the patient, and failed to attempt tapering and transition to safer agents, among others.

The lower court erred in granting the Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment and dismissing the Petitioner's Complaint.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner submits this case is appropriate for oral argument under Rules 18, 19, and 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because this case involves a complicated set/series of facts and the facts and legal arguments would be significantly aided by oral argument.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Petitioner presents this brief following the lower court's granting of the Respondents' request to convert their Motions to Dismiss to Motions for Summary Judgment and finding, as a matter of law, that Petitioner filed his Complaint after the expiration of the statute of limitations. Petitioner takes exception and assert their right to appeal the final order of the circuit court. (0436-0448).

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW – SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This appeal arises from the conversion of Respondents' Motions to Dismiss to Motions for

Summary Judgment and the granting of the Motions for Summary Judgment in favor of the

Respondents. Appellate review of the circuit court's order entering summary judgment is subject

to this court's de novo review. E.G., Syl.Pt. 1, Painter . Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755

(1994).

.

This Court has ruled that,

[s]ummary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as to where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.

Syl. Pt. 2, *Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 s.E.2d 329. The West Virginia case law is clear that

> "[a] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl.pt.3, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). *Accord* Syl.pt. 2, *Jackson v. Putnam County Bd. of Educ.*, 221 W.Va. 170, 653 S.E.2d 632 (2007); Syl.pt. 1, *Mueller v. American Elec. Power Energy Servs.*, *Inc.*, 214 W.Va. 390, 589 S.E.2d 532 (2003).

Thus, "[t]he circuit court's function at summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine

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