DO NOT REMOVE



Docket No. 22-0158

FILE COPY

William Sager, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

VS.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Taylor County (No. 20-C-35)

Dr. Joseph Duvert, Tygart Valley Total Care Clinic, and Grafton City Hospital, Inc., **Defendants Below, Respondents**

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Respondents Dr. Joseph Duvert, Tygart Valley Total Care Clinic, and Grafton City Hospital, Inc., By Counsel:

Brent P. Copenhaver, Esq. (WVSB # 4819) brent@linkouslawpllc.com Dana Hantel, Esq. dana@linkouslawpllc.com (WVSB # 9635) Linkous Law, PLLC 10 Cheat Landing, Suite 200 Morgantown, WV 26508 (304) 554-2400

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

The U.S. Supreme Court has also provided valuable insights regarding what counts as a genuine issue of material fact. First, in order to avoid summary judgment, the non-moving party "must do more than simply show...some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts." *Matsushita Elec. Ind. Co.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S. Ct. 1348, 1356, 89 L. Ed. 2d 538 (1986). In addition,

"[f]actual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted," *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby*, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986), and "[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the [non-moving party's] position will be insufficient[.]" *Id.* at 252. Further, the moving party may discharge its burden by pointing out to the court that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case. *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986).

Petitioner argues that the question of when he knew or had reason to know of medical malpractice is a jury question. However, he has not made the requisite showing that there exists a genuine issue of material fact with respect to when he knew or in the exercise of reasonable diligence had reason to know of his addiction. Absent such a showing, it was entirely appropriate for the Circuit Court to grant summary judgment, as evidenced by this Court's decision affirming the entry of summary judgment in *Mack-Evans v. Hilltop Healthcare Ctr.*, 226 W. Va. 257, 264, 700 S.E.2d 317, 324 (2010)("we agree with the circuit court that the discovery rule did not toll the statute of limitations...the trial court was correct in granting summary judgment...").

B. The lower court properly granted summary judgment where Petitioner failed to provide a timely screening certificate of merit as required by the MPLA.

It is useful to begin with Petitioner's third Assignment of Error, which relates to the MPLA's pre-suit notice requirements. The MPLA establishes specific pre-suit requirements that must be satisfied prior to the filing of any complaint alleging medical negligence:

At least 30 days prior to the filing of a medical professional liability action against a health care provider, the claimant shall serve by certified mail, return receipt requested, a notice of claim on each health care provider the claimant will join in litigation. For the purposes of this section, where the medical professional liability claim against a health care facility is premised upon the act or failure to act of agents, servants, employees, or officers of the health care facility, such agents, servants, employees, or officers shall be identified by area of professional practice or role in the health care at issue. The notice of claim shall include a statement of the theory or theories of liability upon which a cause of action may be based, and a list of all health care providers and health care facilities to whom notices of claim are being sent, together with a screening certificate of merit.

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(b)(emphasis supplied).

In the event that a plaintiff does not have time before expiration of the statute of limitation to obtain and serve the required certificate of merit along with the notice of claim, the MPLA affords the plaintiff an additional sixty (60) days to obtain and serve the certificate of merit:

Except for medical professional liability actions against a nursing home, assisted living facility, their related entities or employees, or a distinct part of an acute care hospital providing intermediate care or skilled nursing care or its employees, if a claimant or his or her counsel has insufficient time to obtain a screening certificate of merit prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the claimant shall comply with the provisions of subsection (b) of this section except that the claimant or his or her counsel shall furnish the health care provider with a statement of intent to provide a screening certificate of merit within 60 days of the date the health care provider receives the notice of claim. The screening certificate of merit shall be accompanied by a list of the medical records otherwise required to be provided pursuant to subsection (b) of this section.

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(d)(emphasis supplied).

All parties to this lawsuit agree that Petitioner's claims are governed by the MPLA. Petitioner was clearly required to comply with the prerequisites set forth in the MPLA before filing his medical malpractice action. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-6(a). Petitioner timely filed and served his first notice of claim dated January 22, 2020 upon Respondents, and he properly included in that notice a statement of his intent to provide a certificate of merit within 60 days. (App. 26).

The 60th day from the date of that notice of claim and statement of intent was March 22, 2022. On that very day, this Court issued the first of four administrative orders regarding the COVID-19 judicial emergency. Because of extensions provided by those orders, Petitioner was obligated to serve a certificate of merit no later than May 29, 2020, but he did not do so until July 2, 2020. In other words, the statutory deadline passed more than a month before Petitioner provided a certificate of merit in support of his notice of claim.

After considering the various submissions and arguments from both sides, the Circuit Court entered an order containing the following findings of fact:

William Sager did not provide a Certificate of Merit within 60 days of January 22, 2020, as required by § 55-7B-6 and as promised in his Notice of Claim dated January 22, 2020. In fact, William Sager did not provide a Certificate of Merit until July 2, 2020, when his attorney Joseph H. Spano, Jr. mailed a second Notice of Claim which contained a Certificate of Merit signed by Joseph N. Ranieri, D.O. dated June 29, 2020.

(App. 441). The Conclusions of Law stated, "Therefore, the Certificate of Merit was filed [by] William Sager more than one month after the deadline for providing the Certificate of Merit had expired." (App. 445).

The Circuit Court's order entering summary judgment in favor of Respondents on the basis that Petitioner failed to comply with the pre-suit requirements of the MPLA was proper and, indeed, was required by the law. Accordingly, Respondents ask this Court to affirm the Circuit Court's decision.

C. The lower court properly granted summary judgment where Petitioner filed his complaint after the applicable statute of limitation expired and where the statute of limitation was not extended or tolled by the discovery rule, any actions taken by Respondents, or any other tolling doctrine.

Even if, for the sake of argument, Petitioner had timely served his certificate of merit, dismissal of his claims would nevertheless have been proper because he did not file his complaint until more than three months after a certificate of merit was served and two months or more after the statute of limitation had expired. The Circuit Court granted summary judgment on the basis that the statute of limitation had run on Petitioner's claims, and Petitioner's brief appealing from that decision contains two assignments of error related to whether his causes of action were time-barred.

Petitioner's brief notes that in *Dunn v. Rockwell*, this Court identified a five-part test to determine whether a cause of action is time-barred. This Court provided additional clarity regarding that five-step analysis in the subsequent case of *Mack-Evans v. Hilltop Healthcare Ctr.*:

First, the court should identify the applicable statute of limitation...Second, the court (or, if questions of material fact exist, the jury) should identify when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute of limitation began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action...Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the cause of action...And fifth, the court or the jury should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine. Only the first step is purely a question of law; the resolution of steps two through five will generally involve questions of material fact that will need to be resolved by the trier of fact.

Mack-Evans, 226 W. Va. at 263, 700 S.E.2d at 322 (2010)(citations omitted). It is of course proper for the trial court to grant summary judgment where there is no genuine issue of material fact concerning these steps. The five steps enumerated by this Court will be discussed in order below.

1. The applicable statute of limitation for Plaintiff's cause of action is the two-year statute of limitation contained within the MPLA.

The first step in the five-step analysis used to determine whether a claim is time-barred is to identify the applicable statute of limitation. As noted above, all parties agree that the MPLA applies to Petitioner's medical malpractice claims. A medical negligence cause of action "arises as of the date of injury...and must be commenced within two years of the date of such injury, or within two years of the date the person discovers, or with reasonable diligence, should have discovered such injury." W.Va. Code §55-7B-4. To permit an opportunity for compliance with its pre-suit notice requirements, the MPLA briefly tolls the statute of limitations against a health care provider served with a notice of claim and certificate of merit:

...any statute of limitations applicable to a cause of action against a health care provider upon whom notice was served for alleged medical professional liability shall be tolled from the date of mail of a notice of claim to 30 days following receipt of a response to the notice of claim, 30 days from the date a response to the notice of claim would be due, or 30 days from the receipt by the claimant of written notice from the mediator that the mediation has not resulted in a settlement of the alleged claim and that mediation is concluded, whichever last occurs.

W. Va. Code §55-7B-6(i)(1).

Petitioner provided the certificate of merit on July 2, 2020. Assuming, for the sake of argument only, that Petitioner's certificate of merit had been timely, it would have effectively served to toll the statute of limitation for 30 days. Thirty days from July 2, 2020 would have been August 1, 2020. Thus, Petitioner had an obligation under the MPLA to file his complaint by August 1, 2020 at the very latest. However, Petitioner did not file his complaint until October 13, 2020, at least two months after the statute of limitation had expired, if it is assumed that Petitioner had timely sent the certificate of merit on July 2, 2020 (which Respondent disputes).

The Circuit Court correctly determined that Petitioner filed his Complaint after the applicable statute of limitation expired and properly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents. Because Petitioner argues that the statute of limitation was tolled or extended, it is necessary to proceed with the other four steps of the five-step analysis.

The requisite elements of Petitioner's cause of action occurred when he became addicted to pain medications—by the end of January 2018 at the very latest.

The second step in the analysis is to determine when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Under the MPLA, there are two necessary elements of proof in every medical negligence case: "(1) The health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill and learning required or expected of a reasonable, prudent health care provider in the profession or class to which the health care provider belongs acting in the same or similar circumstances; and

(2) Such failure was a proximate cause of the injury[.]" W.Va. Code § 55-7B-3(a). The MPLA also expressly provides that "[a] cause of action for injury to a person alleging medical professional liability against a health care provider...arises as of the date of injury." W.Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a).

Here, any alleged breach in the standard of care obviously must have occurred before the end of January 2018, based upon Petitioner's allegation that Respondents provided him with health care through the end of that month. The injury alleged is an addiction to controlled substances. (App. 13). If, for the sake of argument, Petitioner's addiction resulted from health care provided by Respondents, then that addiction necessarily would have existed no later than the last date on which Respondents provided health care to Petitioner. In other words, all of the requisite elements of Petitioner's cause of action would have occurred by the end of January 2018.

Petitioner presented a variety of arguments to the Circuit Court, and, after carefully considering them, the Circuit Court determined that Petitioner had failed to create a genuine issue of material fact and noted that Petitioner's addiction was the injury that formed the basis of his complaint. Absent any sort of tolling of the statute of limitation based upon the discovery rule or some other tolling doctrine, Petitioner's cause of action accrued when the injury allegedly caused by medical negligence, i.e., his addiction, first began—on or before the end of January 2018.

3. The discovery rule does not apply to extend or toll the running of the statute of limitation because Plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action on or before May 11, 2018.

The third step in the analysis is to apply the discovery rule to determine when the statute of limitation began to run by determining when Petitioner knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action. This step of the timeliness analysis addresses Petitioner's second Assignment of Error.

Petitioner contends that he "did not know until August 2018 that the controlled substances prescribed by these Defendants were not medically necessary, that prescribing of controlled substances for 14 years was contrary to medical protocol, nor did the Plaintiff know that the actions of the Defendants was malpractice until he was no longer experiencing pain." Petitioner's Brief argues, "The lower Court's finding that the statute of limitations began to run when the Petitioner entered into a drug rehabilitation program in May, 2018 is a mistaken understanding of the disease of addiction, the rehabilitation process, and fails to consider the applicability of the discovery rule and its elements."

The MPLA plainly requires an injured plaintiff to file a medical malpractice claim against a health care provider within two years of the injury, or within two years of the date when such person discovered, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered, such injury. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a); Syl. Pt. 2, *Jones v. Aburahma*, 215 W.Va. 521, 600 S.E.2d 233 (2004); Syl. Pt. 1, *Gaither v. City Hospital, Inc.*, 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997). Further, even prior to the MPLA, with respect to the general rules concerning when a plaintiff "should have discovered" an injury, this Court recognized that mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action does not prevent the running of the statute of limitation, and the discovery rule applies only when there is a strong showing by the plaintiff that the defendants prevented him from knowing of the wrong at the time of the injury. Syl. Pt. 2, *Harrison v. Davis*, 197 W.Va. 651, 478 S.E.2d 104 (1996); Syl. Pt 3, *Cart v. Marcum*, 188 W. Va. 241, 423 S.E.2d 644 (1992); Syl. Pt. 2, *Donley v. Bracken*, 192 W. Va. 383, 452 S.E.2d 699 (1994).

In *Gaither v. City Hosp.*, 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997), Justice Starcher discussed this Court's holding related to a patient's discovery of medical negligence:

In our holding today, we find on the one hand that knowledge sufficient to trigger the limitation period requires something more than a mere apprehension that something may be wrong...Even if a patient is aware that an undesirable result has been reached after medical treatment, a claim will not be barred by the statute of limitations so long as it is reasonable for the patient not to recognize that the condition might be related to the treatment. On the other hand, we do not go so far as to require recognition by the plaintiff of negligent conduct....We simply hold that once a patient is aware, or should reasonably have become aware, that medical treatment by a particular party has caused a personal injury, the statute begins.

Id. at 909 (emphasis supplied).

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